
PRESIDENT'S MESSAGE  
 
Dear Cousins: 

 
As I left for Salt Lake on Oct. 3rd for our  

semi-annual meeting of the Board of Directors,  
I was having second thoughts about going.  
Work had piled up, and I would have liked to  
have been out in the mountains getting wood 
or just enjoying the beauties of nature. How 
ever, I knew where I was supposed to be and  
I knew there would be some faithful family  
members at the meeting regardless of how 
far they had to travel or other inconveniences.  
I looked forward to meeting Afton Jolley 
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and her father Charles from Burley, 
Thomas from Idaho Falls, Hyrum from 
Provo, and of course David and Lavern, 
Jim Pack, Rodney, and our gracious 
hosts, Dean and his good wife Lenore. 
I was not disappointed. The enthusiasm 
of these good people made me feel well 
paid for my efforts. 

As I listened to the various ones make 
their reports on the progress they were 
having, I was most grateful to belong to 
such a fine family. 

There were 808 Recorders sent out last 
issue, and we expect more this time. If you 
have kin who are not receiving the 
Recorder, please send their names and 
addresses to LaVern and David Diehl. 

The sad part was that there were only 
200 who had sent in their six dollars for 
the Recorder. 

There were also several wife-line 
families who failed to hold a reunion. I 
plead with the presidents to try and get 
their families together. For more de-tails 
you can read the minutes in the Re-
corder. 

I feel humble as I think of the many 
calls that came to Grandpa Milo and his 
faithfulness in answering each one with 
his services. His son James, my grand-
father, whom we are honoring in this 
Recorder, also answered many calls to 
service. The trials of this Dixie Mission 
were great, but he was up to the task and 
stayed and completed his call. A third 
of those called gave up and returned north.. 

We have so much to be thankful for. 
May we do our best to keep up with our 
tasks. This is all part of the Gospel. May 
we lengthen our strides and run with our 
beloved President Kimball, doing our part 
to build up the kingdom. 

Yours truly; 
James A. Andrus, President Milo 
Andrus Family Organization 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD MINUTES
The Executive Board meeting of the 

Milo Andrus Sr. Family Organization 
was held on Saturday, Oct. 4, 1975 at 
1:00 P. M. at the home of Dean W. 
Andrus, 4312 Parkview Drive, Salt Lake 
City. Present were James Andrus,. 
president: Hyrum Andrus, James Pack, 
and Dean Andrus. David & LaVerne Diehl 
were also in attendance, Allyn Andrus 
and Secretary Beth Anderson . had asked 
to be excused. The opening prayer was to 
be David Diehl. LaVerne Diehl was asked 
to take the minutes. 

REUNIONS - President Andrus re-
viewed the Milo Andrus Sr. reunions 
held since 1969. The possibility of 
holding reunions in four geographical 
areas in the future was discussed. 
These areas would be St. George, Salt 

Lake Valley, Utah County and Snake River 
Valley. If the Canadian members can hold a 
reunion this might be worked in. 

PAID MEMBERS - 214 members have paid 
their $6.00. It was decided to suggest placing 
the matter of members paying and/or 
delinquencies in the hands of the family line 
chairmen. It was felt a mailing list of over 
800 cannot be supported by only 200 paying 
members. 

RECORDER - Wife line chairmen should be 
continually sending in information and 
pictures on their lines. This information 
would be put in family files by Hyrum, who 
felt the organization should not be pot , 
shoting one line at a time, but rather should 
be covering the whole family. Hyrum said the 
Recorder will cost more in the future because 
additional pictures will be used. 

IDENTIFICATION OF FAMILY LINES - 
Gary Andrus (in a letter read by Jim Andrus) 
said some people sending in dues are 
confused as to what lifeline they come from. 
Receipt of the Recorder should suffice as a 
receipt for dues. 

REFUND OF MONEY TO WIFELINES 
FROM DUES - It was decided to hold this 
discussion until the general meeting. 

Meeting was adjourned at 1:50 P . M .  
 
GENERAL MEETING - ANDRUS ORGANI-
ZATION

The general meeting of the Milo Andrus Sr. 
Family Organization was held Saturday Oct. 4, 
1975 at 2:00 P . M .  at the home of Dean W. 
Andrus, 4312 Parkview Dr . ,  Salt Lake City. 
Present were Thomas Andrus, James Andrus, 
Dale Walker, Charles Andrus, Afton Jolley, 
Hyrum Andrus, James Pack and Dean .Andrus. 
David and LaVerne Diehl were also in 
attendance. Alyn Andrus and Secretary Beth 
Anderson had previously asked to be excused. 
LaVerne Diehl was asked to take the minutes. 
Thomas Andrus conducted. 

The minutes of the April 1975 meeting 
were read by LaVerne Diehl and were ap-
proved with the exception of one entry which 
Dale Walker will correct by a memo to be 
submitted later. 

James Andrus reviewed Milo Andrus, Sr. 
reunions held since 1968. A motion by Hyrum 
Andrus, seconded by Afton Jolley was passed 
setting up four areas for holding the Milo 
Andrus Sr. reunion: Snake River Valley 
(Idaho), Utah Valley (Provo) ,  Salt Lake Valley 
and St. George with the under-standing that a 
reunion can be held in various communities 
within an area. 

James Andrus moved, Dean Andrus se-
conded and motion passed designating the 
next reunion be held June 25 & 26, 1976 in 
the Salt Lake Valley area. 

Hyrum moved, Jim Andrus seconded and 
motion passed that the chairman of the re-
union be appointed by the Executive Corn- 



GENEALOGY - The Dutch researcher  
is good but takes his own time.  The pro 
gram is slowly moving forward.  The  
Colonial program (from Colonial times to  
1800) should be completed by April 1976. 

 
Dean Andrus and his wife were again  

thanked for their hospitality in hosting the  
meeting.  The next meeting will be held  
Saturday, April 3, 1976 at 2:00 P. M. at  
the home of David and LaVerne Diehl at  
2701 Milo Way in Salt Lake City (Holladay).  
Jim Pack closed the meeting with prayer.  
 
MILO ANDRUS FAMILY FINANCIAL  
REPORT by Gary Andrus, Treasurer  
 

Balance on hand as of 5-10-75 $1132. 13  
Funds received as of  9-28-75 $ 903.00  
Expenses paid as of 9-28-75 $ 899. 52  
Balance on hand as of 9-28-75 $1135.61  
 
Funds rebated to Family Organizations  

between 7-20-75 and 9-28-75: 
 
Daly, Abigail'Jane                    $ 8.00 
Miles, Sarah Ann       6.00 
Tuttle, Lucy Loomis       l.00 
Alexander, Adeline       l.00 
Webster, Mary Ann       l.00 
Brooks, Ann        2.00 
Munday, Jane                            89.00 
Boyce, Margaret Ann       7.00 
Covert, Emma       2.00 
Tuttle, Francena Lucy .00  

                                                                        $117.00  
 
ADDITION TO MINUTES 
(Board Meeting, April 5, 1975) 

 
On page 2 of the last issue of the Re 

corder, the following should be added to  
the comments made by Dale Walker: 

 
"Dale noted that there is a duplication  

of reunions for the descendants of Mary  
Jane Andrus this year, and every year  
under our present reunion schedules. "  
 
WIFE-LINE REUNIONS 

 
Several, but not all, wife-line organi 

zations held a reunion last summer. Here 
after it is hoped that a brief statement of  
each reunion will be sent to Hyrum L.  
Andrus for inclusion in the Recorder.  The  
following information was submitted by  
Afton A. Jolley: 

 
"The Margaret Boyce Wife-line Reunion  

was held in Burley, Idaho, August 30, 1975.  
There were 46 members in attendance,  
representing 4 of the 8 children. Repre 
sented were Ben, Joe, Hyrum, and Mans 
field. Three family genealogists were se 
lected: Maurene Parker, for Hyrum;  
Betty Miller and Elaine Gibbons, for Mans 
field; and Betty Linscott and Lila Andrus,  
for Joe.  A good time was had by all  
present." 
 
DEATHS: 

Millard DeMoyne Andrus. 
HYRUM, Cache County - Millard DeMoyne 

mittee but not be a member of the Execu 
tive Committee. JimAndrus was instructed  
to name one of the following three suggested  
persons as chairman of the 1976 reunion:  
Owen E. Andrus, Ione Andrus Pack or A.  
Marlin Andrus. 

 
Hyrum suggested and the group agree  

that each person attending the reunion be  
well tagged so their place in the Andrus  
family is evident. 

 
Afton Jolley moved, seconded by Dean and  

passed that for each Milo Andrus, Sr. re 
union (every 2 years) the area holding the  
reunion be awarded $75. 00 from the organi 
zation's general fund as a financial basis to  
get the reunion under way.   

 
James Andrus moved, seconded by Dale  

Walker, that the area holding the reunion  
ask for a nominal contribution from those  
in attendance. Motion passed. 

 
Beth Anderson is to be directed to send  

a copy of the minutes to each Board Mem 
ber who attended this meeting.  This  
should be done as soon. after the meeting  
as possible. 

 
Hyrum emphasized that family leaders  

should say, "What have I done for the  
family line these past six months. " He  
said the inflow of information needs to be  
continued.  The Board agreed with him  
that the Recorder should be published 4  
times a year. 

 
Family members should send in stories,  

pictures and genealogies. Pictures can  
include homesteads etc.  Persons sending  
in pictures should be sure to write on the  
back the names of people or buildings on  
the pictures, and the dates if possible and  
always the name and address to whom the  
picture(s) should be returned.  If a family  
member feels a picture is too valuable to  
mail, they could have a copy made of the  
picture, mail the copy and indicate that it  
need not be returned. 

 
FINANCIAL REPORT - James Andrus  

pointed out that the organization cannot con 
tinue sending out over 800 Recorders when  
only 200 members pay. 

 
Dale explained that the Internal Revenue  

Service needs an itemized financial state 
ment before it will grant the family a tax  
exempt status.  Gary Andrus, treasurer,  
will be notified to submit the financial in 
formation to Dale. LaVerne Diehl will  
contribute the information she has. Family  
chairman will be notified who is paying  
dues and will be urged to contact those  
who do not pay. 

 
Dale and Jim Pack offered information  

on the possibility of using computer help  
in the mailing of the Recorder and the main  
maintenance of membership rolls. Dale,  
Jim Pack, Afton Jolley and Mrs. Dean An 
drus offered to' help type labels for the next  
mailing of the Recorder. 



b. May 22, 1872 in Henrietta, father -  
George Andress, mother - Adalate  
Ennes, residence - Henrietta, O. 

 
    Vol. l, #3278 - (no name) Andress, 
b. March 16, 1873 in Henrietta, father -  
George Andress, mother - Amelia  
Hutchinson, res. - Henrietta, O. 

 
Vol. l, #3892 - Edna Andress, b. March  

March 16, 1875 in Henrietta, father -  
George Andress, mother - Permelia  
Hutchinson; res. Henrietta, O. 

 
Vol. 2, #2416 - Not named Andress,  

b. Aug 25, 1881 in Elyria - father - H.  
M. Andress, mother - Dora Boynton.  
(Note: prob. Maud. ) 

 
Vol. 2, #6548 - Baby Andress, b. Dec.  

28, 1888 in Elyria - father - H. M. An 
dress, mother - Medora G. Boyaton.  
(Note: Florence Jean) 

 
Vol. 3, P. 2 - George (Henry) Andress,  

b. Sept. 28, 1891 in Elyria - father - 
H. M. Andress, mother - Medora G.  
Boynton. 

 
Vol. 2, #6116 - Bertha E. Andress,  

b. May 22, 1887 in Henrietta - father -  
G. H. Andress, mother - Pamelis  
Hutchinson. 

 
From Record of Marriages in the Office  

of the Loraine Co. Probate Court: 
 
Vol. 3, P. 511 - Feb. l, 1871 - George  

H. Andress - Miss Adelaide Ennes,  
James Sees or Lees, J. P. 

 
Vol. 4, P. 296 - July 9, 1878 - Henry  

M. Andress & Miss Medora Boynton, J.  
H. McConnell, M. G. 

 
Vol. 12, P. 417 - March 27, 1907 -  

Florence Jean Andress to John V. Dillman,  
by William E. Cadmus, Minister First  
Congregational Church, Elyria. She is 
18 yrs. of age on 22 Dec 1906, b. in  
Elyria, O. - father - Henry M. Andress,  
mother - Dora Boynton. He is 24 yrs. of  
age on 7 Jan. 1907, b. in Plainfield, Ill. 
father - L. M. Dillman, mother - Mary  
Ellen Wills. 

 
Vol. 15, P. 339 - Jan. 21, 1913 - George  

Henry Andress to Miss Lora Jessie Waitt.  
He is 21 yrs of age on the 28 Sept. 1912 -  
father - Henry M. Andress, mother - Ma 
Madora G. Boynton. She is 22 yrs. of age  
on the 3 Dec. 1912 - father - Walter Waitt,  
mother - Rosa Nybeck. 

 
Vol. 4, P. 22 - Old Series - Robert E.  

Doolittle to Miss Alice S. Andress, Jan. 8,  
1873, by B. F. Noakes, M. G. 

 
From the Record of Marriages in the  

Office of the Erie County Probate Court:  
 

Vol. 13, P. 589 - Henry M. Andress to  
Agnes Catherine Carroll. 

I do hereby certify that on the 1st day  
of November A. D. 1910 I solemnized  
the marriage of Mr. Henry M. Andress  
with Miss Agnes Catherine Carroll.  

Rev. N. W. Horst or Hart  
St. Peters Church, Huron, O. 

Andrus, 46, Hyrum, died Aug. 29, 1975,  
in a Logan hospital of heart failure.  
Born Nov. 10, 1928, Salt Lake City, 
to George E. and LaVerna Terry Andrus.  
Married JoLynn Garner Feb. 15, 1957,  
Logan LDS Temple.  Graduated from  
Los Angeles State University, 1960.  
Taught accounting at Weber State College.  
Employed 15 years with Internal Revenue  
Service, Ogden. 

 
Survivors: wife; sons, daughters,  

Mark Dee, Eric George, Paul Ray, Lisa  
Lynn, all Hyrum; brothers, George K.,  
Granger; Paul C., Kaneohe, Hawaii;  
Ross, Bountiful; Calvin, Brigham City. 

 
Funeral Monday at 2 p. m. Hyrum 

LDS Stake Center. Friends call Thomp 
son Funeral Home, Hyrum, Sunday 7-9  
p.m., Monday 12:30-l:30 p. m.  Burial,  
Hyrum City Cemetery. 

 
Rose Turner Andrus 
Funeral services for Rose Turner  

Andrus,. age 90, were held Monday  
June 9, 1975, at 11:00 a. m. in the St.  
George 8th LDS Ward Chapel under  
direction of the Spilsbury and Graff  
Mortuary in St. George, Utah. 

 
Mrs. Andrus was born March 5,  

1885 in Washington, Utah to James Ed 
ward Turner and Elizabeth Paxman.  
She married Charles Andrus Sept. 10,  
1906 in St. George, Utah. This mar 
raige was later solemized in the St.  
George Temple. Charles Andrus pre 
ceded Rose in death Nov. 10, 1948.  
Mrs. Andrus died June 5, 1975 in a  
St. George Rest Home of causes inci 
dent to age. 

 
Mrs. Andrus was an active member  

of the L. D. S. Church having served  
in many capacities: Relief Society  
visiting for many years.  Mrs. Andrus  
was a member of the Manomas Andrus  
Camp of the Daughters of Utah Pioneers. 

 
Survivors are: 1 son, 4 daughters;  

Charles Iliff Andrus, St. George, Utah,  
Wilma Andrus, Mrs. Mack G. "Rhoda"  
Jackson and Mrs. Ray "Beth" Thomp 
son all of St. George, Utah; Mrs. Mar 
vin E. "Manoma" Jenkins, Ft. Worth,  
Texas, 18 Grandchildren and 32 Gt.  
Grandchildren. Brothers and sisters  
John Turner, Washington, Utah;-Mrs.  
Marvin "Alice" Pymm, St. George,  
Utah; Mrs. Elsie Reber, Las Vegas,  
Nevada. 

 
Interment was in the St. George City  

Cemetery with Bishop Delmont Truman  
conducting. 
 
RULUF ANDRUS FAMILY COLUMN  
                       by Elena Goodworth  
 
     From the Record of Births in The  
Office of the Lorain County Probate  
Court. 

Vol. 1, #2481 - Frank E. Andress, 



Co., O. - husband - Henry M. Andress.  
 
     Mary E. Andress, d. Nov. 26, 1944  
in Elyria, O. - bur. Nov. 28, 1944 in  
Ridgelawn Cemetery - b. Aug. l, 1871  
in Muncie, Ind. - father Rollie Mc. Bee,  
b. in W. Va., mother - Christian Howell,  
b. in W. Va. - husband - Henry M.  
Andress. 

 
George Henry Andress, d. Dec. 26,  

1950 in Elyria, b. - bur. Dec. 28, 1950  
in Ridgelawn Cemetery - b. Sept. 28,  
1891 in Elyria, O. - father - Henry M.  
Andress, mother - Medora Boynton -  
no name of wife given. 

 
From Record of Baptisms in the  

Birmingham Methodist Church at Bir 
mingham, Erie County, Ohio. 

 
Henry Martin Andress, baptised April  

8, 1894, son of George H. and Melia  
Andress, date of birth - July 8, 1880. 

 
In the Ridgelawn Cemetery, Elyria,  

Lorain County. 
 
George Henry Andress, 1891 - 1950  
 
In same lot: 
 
Maud Duryea, 1881 - 1920. 
 
There is an Andress monument on this  

lot but no more headstones. 
 
Medora Boynton Andress, 1855 - 1923  

 
From Burial Records in the Office at  

the Ridgelawn Cemetery: 
 
Elyria, Ohio: 
 
Henry M. Andress, bur. May 27, 1938,  

age 82 - Lot 263 - Sec. 1 - Space 3.  
 

George Henry Andress, bur. Dec. 28,  
1950, age 69 - Lot 263 - Sec. 1 - Space 5.  
 

Maud Duryea, bur. Sept. 14, 1920 -  
Lot 263 - Sec. 1. 

 
Mary E. Andress, bur. Nov. 28, 1944,  

age 73 - Lot 263 - Sec. 1 - Space 4.  
 

Medora G. Andress, bur, March 21,  
1923, age 68 - Lot 1 - Sec. l. 

 
Ida M. Andress, bur. Nov. 27, 1934,  

age 64 - Lot 237 - Sec. 3 - Space 3.  
Probate Court Office, Lorain Co.,  
Ohio (at Elyria) 

 
I Carlo Andress do make and publish  

this my last will and testament. 
 
Item 1 - I give and bequeath to my  

beloved wife the farm on which we now  
reside, situate in the Township of Hen 
rietta and containing about one hundred  
and thirty-seven acres, during her natu  
natural life, and all the stock, household  
goods, furniture, possessions and the  
goods and chattels which may be thereon  
at the time of my decease, during her  
natural life as aforesaid.  She, however,  
selling so much thereof as may be suf 
ficient to pay my just debts. 

Application for marriage license states  
that he is 30 years of age on the 8th day of  
July 1910, his residence is Lorain County,  
Ohio, place of birth is Lorain County, 0.,  
occupation - farmer, father - G. H. An 
dress, mother - Pamelia Hutchinson, he  
was not previously married. 

 
Agnes Catherine Carroll is 32 years  

of age on the 6th day of April 1910, resi 
dence - Berlin Heights, Erie County, 0.,  
occupation - clerk, father - Matt Carroll,  
mother - Grimes, she was not previously  
married. 

 
Vol. 6, P. 79 - Jan. 2, 1877 - Mrs.  

Adelaide Andress to A. P. Raad, by E.  
H. Andress, J. P. 

 
Vol. 3, P. 73 - Jan, 19, 1880 - George  

H. Andress to Matilda Elison, at Norwalk,  
Huron Co., by Samuel Mower, Pastor of  
M. E. Church at Norwalk. 

 
Vol. 5, P. 185 - Nov. 8, 1872 - G. E.  

Andress to Permelia Hutchinson, at San 
dusky, by J. L.. Lehrer. 

 
From the Record of Deaths in The Office  

of the Lorain County Probate Court: 
 
Vol. l, #227 - Matilda Andress, d.  

Jan. 10, 1868 - married age 31 years in  
Henrietta - b. in Vermilion, Erie Co.,  
O. - res. Henrietta. 

 
Vol. 1, #942 - Wealthy Andress, d.  

April 26, 1871 - age 55 yrs. 8 mo. 10  
da. - in Elyria - b. in York State - res.  
Elyria, O. 

 
Vol. l, #1358 - Ernest Andress, d.  

Feb. 3, 1873 - age 9 yrs. 6 mo. 28 da. -  
in Henrietta - b. in Henrietta - res.  
Henrietta, O. 

 
Vol. l, #892 - Carlo Andress, d. Nov.  

l, 1870 - mar, - age 64 yrs. - in Ober 
lin - b. in N. Y. - res. Oberlin, O. 

 
From the Record of Deaths in the Office  

Office of the Elyria Health Department:  
       

Henry M. Andress, d. May 24, 1938  
in Elyria, O. - bur. May 27, 1938 in  
Ridgelawn Cemetery, Elyria - b. June  
19, 1858 in Henrietta, O. - father - C  
Carlo Andress - b. in New York, mother 
Welthy Smith, b. in New York - wife -  
Mayme Andress. 

 
Medora G. Andress, d. March 16,  

1923 in Elyria., O. - bur. March 21, 1923  
in Ridgelawn Cemetery - b. May 30,  
1854 in Elyria, O. - father - Joshua  
Boynton, mother  Skinner -  
husband - divorced. (Note: name of  
mother must have been given in error.  
Joshua Boynton marr. Catherine Skin 
ner in 1860; Barbara Earman in 1848. 

 
Ida M. Andress, d. Nov. 25, 1934 in  

Elyria, O. - bur. Nov. 27, 1934 in  
Ridgelawn Cemetery - b. Feb. 27, 1870,  
in Litchfield, Medina Co., O. - father -  
Vincent Shank, b. in Wayne Co., O.,  
mother - Frances Sears, b. in Medina 



At the death of my said wife the real  
estate aforesaid and such part of the said  
personal property or the proceeds there  
of as may remain unconsumed and unex 
pended I give and devise to my son Henry  
M. Andress and his heirs one half, also  
one half of all moneys and credits that  
may be remaining at her decease. 

 
The other half of said real estate,  

personal property, moneys and credits to  
my daughter, Allie Andress and her heirs. 

Item 2 - I do hereby nominate and ap 
point my beloved wife, guardian of my  
son Henry and daughter Allie until they  
shall become twenty-one years of age. 

 
3rd - In place of giving my son George  

H. Andress anything in this my last will  
I have this day conveyed to him by deed,  
real estate to the amount of Five Thou 
sand Dollars which I consider to be an  
equal proportion. 

 
Item 4th. - I do hereby nominate and  

appoint Stephen Smith of Elyria town 
ship, Executor of this, my last will and  
testament, hereby authorizing and em 
powering him to compromise, adjust, re 
lease, discharge in such manner as he  
may deem proper the debts and claims  
due me. 

 
In testimony I have hereby set my  

hand and seal this fourteenth day of  
March A. D. 1867. 

Carlo Andress.  
 
Signed and acknowledged  
by said Carlo Andress as  
his last will and testament  
in our presence and signed  
by us in his presence. 

 
W. S. Ferguson  
G. H. Andress 

 
Extract from the deed from Lorain Co.  

Ohio Recorder's Office covering real  
estate transfer by Carlo Andress to George  
H. Andress. 

 
We, Carlo and Wealthy Andress, wife  

of said Carlo Andress, for consideration  
of five hundred dollars ($500.00) received  
to our full satisfaction of George H. An 
dress, do give, grant, bargain, sell and  
confirm unto him the said George H. An 
dress the following described tract of lot  
of land situate in the township of Hen 
rietta in the county of Lorain and state of  
Ohio and is known as being part of lot 99  
in said township, containing 35 and .75  
acres, also another piece containing 
43 acres, except 4 acres deeded to Cal 
vin Higgins by James B. Squires and also  
a school house and 3/4 acres. 

 
March 14, 1867 Carlo Andress.  
 Wealthy Andress.  

In presence of 
W. S. Fergusoon.  
Allie Andress. 

LIFE SKETCH OF MARY JANE ANDRUS  
AND WILLIAM DORRIS HENDRICKS  
 
     Mary Jane was born on the 15th of  
November, 1833, at Florence, Huron,  
Ohio, to Milo Andrus and Abigail Jane  
Daley. She was their first child. By  
this time Milo and Abigail were converts  
of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day  
Saints of less than a year.  She married  
William Dorris Hendricks on the 12th of  
March 1851, in Salt Lake City.  The lo 
cation of the marriage was the Warm  
Springs Bath House, an early social center  
of the Saints that was constructed by her  
husband.  They were marriedby Brigham  
Young. Their residence was the Bath  
House, until their removal to Richmond,  
Utah. W. D., as he was called, was the  
son of James Hendricks and Drusilla  
Dorris.  He was born on the 6th of Novem 
ber, 1829, at Franklin, Simpson County,  
Kentucky.  Prior to his marriage, W. D.  
had cared for his father, along with his  
mother, after his father was wounded  
during the persecutions in Missouri at the  
battle of Crooked River.  While in Nauvoo,  
W. D. Worked on the temple, hauling rock.  
After the exodus, he served in the Mormon  
Battalion, as a private in Company D. 

 
Five months after his marriage to Mary  

Jane, W. D. married Alvira Lavona Smith.  
During this period many of Brigham Young's  
socials were held at their social center.  
This fact reflects the refinement gracious 
ness of Mary Jane, W. D. , and Alvira. 
In 1860, W. D., Mary Jane, and Alvira,  
with their children, moved to Cache Valley,  
Utah, and assisted in the settlement of  
Richmond, where he became the town's  
first mayor in 1864.  He served two terms.  
He engaged in stock raising, farming,  
milling, banking, and contracting. The  
following year, W. D. married a third  
wife, Almira Davenport on 10 Oct 1865. 

 
In 1877, they were called to Lewiston  

(northwest of Richmond) to assist in the  
settlement of that community and W. D.  
was called to be the 1st Counsellor to  
Bishop William Hendricks Lewis. 

 
In 1884, W. D. was c alled to be the Presi 

dent of the newly formed Oneida Stake, in  
southern Idaho.  Mary Jane remained in  
Lewiston until a year later, when W. D. 
was forced to bring Alvira to Lewiston and  
bring Mary Jane to Idaho, because of the  
persecution against those who practed  
plural marriage. 

 
In 1887, W. D. was forced to leave his  

first three wives in Utah and depart to  
Mexico.  He took with him his fourth wife  
that he had married in 1885, Christine  
Olsen.  Later, his third wife joined him in  
Mexico. While there, he married Eleanor  
Anna Maybin, on 3 Dec 1897, who at this  
time had a daughter of a previous marriage.  
In 1889 he was released from the Presi 
dency of the Oneida Stake, and Mary Jane  
returned to Richmond. After the man- 



Flat Head Indians.  This is when he  
got his start of fine horses. 

 
In March of 1857, he married Laura  

Altha Gibson, who thereafter bore him  
nine children. Immediately after, he,  
with Seymour B. Young, Phillip Margeto,  
David Wilkin, Charles Shumway, Father  
Atkin, Robert Gardner, David Brinton,  
and William Carter, was called to England  
as a missionary, crossing the plains from  
Salt Lake City to the Missouri River 
with handcarts, as was the custom of the  
time. 

 
James married Manomas Lovina  

Gibson as a second wife, with whom he  
had eleven children.  They were married  
in the Endowment House at Salt Lake City.  
Both wives of James were the daughters  
of George Washington Gibson and Mary 
Ann Sparks.  They were southern people  
who joined the church in their native state,  
South Carolina, and crossed the plains 
with their large family.  They came to  
Utah in Captain Brown's Company. 

 
In the fall if 1861 James was called  

(together with Orson Pratt, Frank B.  
Wooley, and many others) to settle  
Southern Utah, where he passed through  
all the trials and privations incident to  
pioneer life in a barren desert country.  
But he was eminently successful in his  
labors of developing the wilderness and  
turning it into a fruitful garden spot. 

 
In 1862 he filled a short mission to the  

Moquis Indians. In April 28, 1862, the  
Indians destroyed stations between Fort  
Bridger and North Platte, burned coaches,  
mail bags, killed drivers, and ran off  
with the stock.  Because of this action,  
Adjutant General L. Thomas, of Washing 
ton, D.C., made a call to President  
Brigham Young for a company of cavalry 
to protect the mail routes, and James Andrus  
was called to serve under Captain Lot  
Smith. 

 
In 1863, when volunteers were called  

from Utah's Sunny Dixie for drivers of  
teams to bring several emigrants across  
the plains, James went as an assistant 
to Captain Daniel D. McArthur and success 
fully brought a large company to Utah. 
The following year he made a similar trip  
east after merchandise, traveling with a  
mule team. 

 
On the night of January 8, 1866, James  

W. Whitmore and Robert McIntyre were  
killed near Pipe Springs, Arizona, by  
Piute and Navajo Indians.  Word came to  
St. George that there was trouble with  
Indians at Pipe Springs, and that Whitman  
and McIntyre were missing.  When this  
word came, the people of St. George were  
gathered in the Meeting House for a dance.  
A call was made for men to be armed and  
equipped and to start at once for Pipe  
Springs. 

The next morning the men were armed 

festo was issued, W. D. was able to rejoin  
his family in Richmond where he served  
as Patriarch of the Benson Stake. 

 
Mary Jane was the mother of eleven  

of W. D. 's forty-two (and one adopted)  
children. 
 
BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH OF JAMES  
ANDRUS (written principally by his son,  
Alexander Burto Andrus) 

 
Bishop James Andrus of St. George,  

Washington County, Utah, was born June  
14, 1835, in Florence, Huron Co., Ohio,  
the son of Milo Andrus and Abigail Jane  
Daley.  He was the oldest son of his  
father, who had 57 children. He was  
blessed as a child under the hands of  
Sidney Rigdon, his parents being already  
members of the Church. When about  
eight years of age, he was baptized and  
soon afterwards ordained to the office  
of Deacon. In the spring of 1846, he  
left Nauvoo, Ill., together with his  
parents, for the far west, en route for  
the mountains. Having proceeded as far  
as the Pawnee village, near Grand Is 
land, the company with which he traveled  
received word from Pres. Brigham  
Young to go into winter quarters at or  
near that place; but, being under the  
direction of Bishop George Miller, the  
company, instead of obeying the council  
of Pres. Young, turned north, traveling  
as far as the Running Water, in the  
Ponca nation, Here they stayed for  
several months and then returned to  
Winter Quarters, settling temporarily  
above that place where they remained  
till the summer of 1847. 

 
In the spring of 1848, when James  

was about thirteen years old, he started  
across the plains with his mother, one  
sister older than himself, two younger  
sisters and a younger brother, having  
two yoke of oxen and a yoke of cows at  
their disposal.  His father, Milo Andrus,  
left his family on the prairie, having  
been called to go to England on a mission.  
James wrote, "We had all of our pos 
sessions f or the family of six in one  
small wagon, and I took my part, al 
though but a child, in all the guards of  
both camp and cattle. " 

 
The family came to the valley with the  

Heber C. Kimball Company. They  
reached the Valley of the Great Salt  
Lake in the fall of 1848, and here they  
crudely constructed a log cabin.  They  
often went hungry and sometimes they  
were cold. 

 
James was a boy chum of Joseph F.  

Smith, who later became President of  
the Church. 

 
When James was 21 years of age, he  

bought his time from his father, Milo.  
The winter of 1855-56 he spent in Washing 
ton Territory, as a trader among the 



was a fire. He woke Captain James  
Andrus. The latter unhesitatingly de 
clared that the light was reflected from  
a fire, and that there were Indians  
there.  He could smell them. 

 
Orders were immediately issued, and  

the men were soon mounted and moving  
noiselessly toward the light which shone  
in the darkness several miles away. 
A convenient wash or gully, made it  
possible for the Militia to approach to  
within one hundred and fifty yards of the  
unsuspecting Navajo's, who were busily  
occupied with their breakfast of broiled  
beef. 

 
Dismounting his men, Captain James  

Andrus, to whom the direct command had  
been entreated by Colonel J. D. L. Pearce  
who was present, left a detail to hold the  
horses.  With the remainder of his forces  
he attacked the camp.  At the first fire 
the Navajo's scattered.  But at the com 
mand of their Chief, they ran out, came  
together, and faced their assailants, not 
withstanding the great odds arrayed 
against them.  Slowly they retreated to  
the top of a neighboring ridge, where  
they made a stand, returning shot for  
shot. 

 
Captain Andrus now ordered his men to  

remount, and take the position which the  
Indians were holding, by assault.Charging  
straight up the bluff, the Captain rode,  
leading his men.  As he rushed up the  
slope toward the rocks, Ammon Tenney,  
who was at a different angle, saw and  
Indian on the crest of the ridge, one  
knee on the ground, his bow bent to the  
arrowhead, waiting for the Captain to  
appear. Frantically Tenney shouted,  
"Look out, Captain, that Indian will kill  
you. " 

 
Instantly Captain Andrus reigned his  

horse, a high-spirited animal named  
"Black Hawk, " which threw up its head  
and received in its forehead the arrow  
intended for its rider.  The arrow was so  
deeply inbedded in the skull of the horse  
that it could not be removed until the  
settlements were reached, when it was  
extracted with a pair of blacksmith's  
shoeing pincers. 

 
The battle was soon over.  The Indians  

were either killed or scattered; and when  
Captain Andrus called his men together,  
none was missing, notwithstanding the  
stubborn resistance of the enemy and  
many hair-breadth escapes. 

 
James Andrus was elected Lieutenant  

Colonel of the lst Regiment of Cavalry,  
on the 22nd day of February, 1868, and  
was commissioned by acting Governor  
Edwin Higgins, on the 15th day of April  
of the same year. 

 
James spent 15 years in military ser 

vice. 
 
In November of 1871, Jacob Hamblin 

and mounted, but there were no shelter  
tents.  Their equipment was primitive and  
inadequate, and their provisions were  
scanty. Some were mounted on mules,  
without saddles, and some even without  
coats.  Their quilts served as saddles,  
cloaks, and bedding and in. shirt sleeves  
they did a soldier's full duty on the trying  
campaign.  This was in the dead of winter  
with 3 feet of snow on the ground and the  
mercury below zero.  The officers of the  
expedition were: 

 
Colonel D. D. McArthur 
Lieutenant Colonel Augus M. Cannon  
Major J. D. L. Pearce 
Captain David Cannon  
Captain James Andrus  
Captain Samuel Cunningham 

 
There were seventy-nine soldiers.  

After several days of scouting, James  
Andrus found two Indians who admitted  
that Whitmore and McIntyre'were killed  
by Indians, and they said they would take  
them to the bodies. 

 
Dividing into two companies, one under  

the leadership of Colonel McArthur and  
the other under Captain Andrus, they  
soon found the bodies. 

 
Also at this time, a large number of  

horses and sheep were driven off by the  
Navajo's, and the personal effects were  
retained by the Piutes. It was the first  
depredation in Dixie Country in which  
white men lost their lives, but they were  
not the last victims of the long war which  
was waged by the Navajo's and the Piute's  
against the white settlers of Southern  
Utah. 

 
The second expedition of which James  

was Captain was formed on February 21,  
1866.  They served until March 12, 1866,  
twenty days.  The obj ect of the expe 
dition was to deliver Peter Shirts and  
family, and to protect the white settlers  
while they left Kane County. This time  
there was 29 men under his command. 

 
At that time, there were no telegraph  

lines, and no railroads.  The quickest  
way to transmit a message was by an ex 
pressman mounted on a good horse. 

 
James received a message to hurriedly  

mobilize a small force and take up and  
follow the trail of some Indian marauders.  
This message came from Captain Copeland to 
James, at Virgin, Utah.  Captain  
Freeman arrived with a detachment of  
men from Washington; and the two Cap 
tains joined forces, numbering about  
eighty men. 

 
This force moved rapidly forward,  

hoping to cut off the retreat of the Nava 
jo's toward their own country; by a  
forced march, nightfall found them  
camped on the Cedar Ridge, about eight  
miles west of Pipe Springs. About 4:00  
a. m. the man on guard saw, away off a 
cross the plains, a light which he thought 



met with the Navajo Indians, principally 
Chief Defiance, and concluded a Treaty of 
Peace with them. 

Chief Walker visited Captain Andrus at 
his home after the Treaty of Peace, and 
they became good friends. He told Captain 
Andrus that they had tried to kill him, 
realizing that he was the most successful 
one in defeating their purpose. 

In 1867, James moved his family from 
Grafton to St. George, where he was to 
remain until his death. 

In 1869, he made a trip from Los Angelos, 
California, to Helena, Montana with freight. 

When the Pioneers came to Dixie they 
brought their livestock with them, such as 
milk cows, work horses, and what other 
animals they possessed. From the vast 
amount of public domain, it was easy to 
see that the livestock business could be 
made to be a great benefit to the people in 
this part of the state. 

As the livestock increased, it was neces 
sary to extend their grazing borders. They 
finally went out on top of Hurricane Fault, 
on the Antelope, and what was then known 
as the Canaan Ranch. It was later thought 
best to form a corporation, which was done 
by each one turning in his stock and 
receiving credit in the company. This 
company, the "Canaan Cooperative 
Livestock Company, " proved to be a great 
benefit to the people. 

In 1871, James Andrus became the 
General Manager of the Canaan Coopera-
tive Livestock Company, and he was a 
very good and capable man for the 
position. The business increased under 
his management. He was in charge of this 
company for twenty-five years. 

From 1871 until the time of his death, he 
could be found each year in the saddle. No 
finer speciman of manhood ever sat upon a 
horse. Six feet one inch in height, and 
weighing in his prime 230 pounds, he was 
always riding on the finest horses that 
money and breeding could produce. Cow 
horses are not raised, but are "born, " just 
like cowboys. Many men worked at the cow 
business all their lives and never became 
efficient cow-hands. A good cowpuncher 
can ride a hackamore colt into a herd of 
cattle, and he will know at once whether 
the animal is a good cow horse. Such 
horses, owned and raised by James 
Andrus, were named "Bishop, " "Bollie, " 
and a score of others. names, 

James Andrus was a trustworthy cow-
boy, a successful cattleman, merchant, 
and banker. He was a wise statesman and 
a true soldier. This man did his full part 
in the colonization of the west, and 
keeping pace with its development. He was 
at home at the old-time roundups, or at 
the new. 

After James Andrus resigned from 
running the "Canaan Cooperative Live-
stock Association, " he engaged in the 
cattle business for himself and became 
the leading stockraiser in this section. 

Later he became identified with the 
Wooley, Lund and Judd Mercantile 
Company. He later succeeded in buying this 
firm out, which he was still managing at the 
time of his death, known as James Andrus 
& Sons, St. George, Utah. 

In political affairs he was active and 
interested. After the division of party lines 
when Utah joined the Union, he was elected 
State Representative to the first Legislature, 
November 5, 1895. He was a Democrat from 
Washington County. He served as County 
Commissioner for several terms, and he was 
chosen as the Presidential elector from Utah 
on the Democratic ticket in the election of 
1912. 

In 1857, James Andrus was ordained a 
Seventy by Joseph Young, and in 1895 he 
was ordained a High Priest by Francis M. 
Lyman and called to act as a High Councilor 
in the St. George Stake, which position he 
filled till 1896, when he was ordained a 
Bishop by Franklin D. Richards and set 
apart to preside over the St. George Ward. 
He discharged his duties faithfully in that 
office until he was honorably released. He 
was a member of the High Council at the 
time of his death. 

James was expecially interested in the 
farming, stockraising, and merchantile 
business enterprises that were started in the 
section. He was also interested in nearly 
every irrigation project or business 
enterprise which was started in this part of 
the country. His judgment was good, and he 
was respected by his business associates. 

He was liberal with his means for public 
purposes, especially in the erection of 
school buildings. He was the father of 
the Woodwork Department of Dixie College. 
He was Vice President of the Bank of St. 
George, from its organization until the time 
of his death. He was also President of the 
Telephone Company for many years. 

James died at his home in St. George, 
Utah, December 8, 1914, after leading a 
very successful l i fe.  His widow, Manomas 
G. Andrus, and fourteen children survived 
him. He had at this time forty-five 
grandchildren who survived him. He was the 
father of twenty-one children. 

0 

THE LIFE OF LAURA ALTHA GIBSON 
ANDRUS

Laura Altha Gibson was born in Monroe 
County, Missouri, on 27 June, 1837, the 
daughter of Mary Ann Sparks and George 
Washington Gibson. She was one of eleven 
children. The family joined 
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who dealt with the Indian uprisings of  
the area.  Laura Altha was left alone  
constantly while he was out on these  
dangerous assignments. She gave birth  
to four more children: Edgar, who died  
in infancy, Milo Washington, Gideon La 
fayette, and Thanizin Millennium. Her  
husband became a leader in the community,  
in religious, political and business affairs.  
She never wavered in her support of him,  
and she was always at his side in every 
thing he did. For many years she was  
counselor in the St. George Relief Society,  
and on Dec. 21, 1902, when two wards  
were formed in St. George, she became  
the first President of the St. George West  
Ward Relief Society.  She held this position  
until her death on 4 July 1906. She was a  
dedicated, faithful worker among her  
sisters, and on the day of her funeral they  
showed their respects for her as they  
gathered, joined by the sisters of the East  
Ward, at the family residence each bearing  
a beautiful bouquet of flowers and accom 
panying the remains to the tabernacle. 

 
Note by granddaughter Kay Sullivan: 
 
I think that we often receive our greatest  

insight to a person's character through  
small and seemingly unimportant items. I  
have in my possession a small notebook  
which belonged to my grandmother, Laura  
Altaha Andrus.  On the outside she has  
written, "Tithing Pass Book of Laura And 
rus. " In this book, she carefully recorded  
her tithing payments for the years of 1900 
to 1905.  All payments were in butter,  
eggs, squash, beets, chickens, etc. I  
treasure this little book written in her own  
beautiful script. To me it represents a  
testimony of faith.  How I wish I could have  
known her. 
 
A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE LIFE OF  
MANOMAS LOVINA GIBSON ANDRUS  
 
     Manomas Lovina Gibson was born in  
Monroe County, Mississippi, March 10,  
1842. Her father was George Washington  
Gibson, and her mother was Mary Ann  
Sparks.  They were parents of eleven chil 
dren, Manomas being the tenth child.  
When she was about four years of age,  
her parents with others of the family were  
converted to the truths of the Gospel and  
started on the long journey to Utah. 

 
When the company arrived at Pueblo, in  

1846, Manoma's father took sick with  
Mountain Fever (typhoid) and it became  
necessary for them to spend the winter  
there.  At that time, Pueblo was only a  
small trading post with a few buildings,  
and the women of the Gibson family were  
practically the only women in the settle 
ment that winter. 

 
The Spanish women were very good to  

this family and with their sick father.  The  
family depended upon the kindness of these  
people for food. Manomas remembers  
having these women take her and her baby 

the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day  
Saints in Mississippi, in 1845, and one  
year later they joined the John Brown  
Company and commenced their long  
journey to the Salt Lake Valley.  This  
company became known in church his 
tory as the "Mississippi Saints." They  
had been instructed to meet Brigham  
Young and the body of the Saints at a  
designated place on the Platte River.  
But Brigham Young was detained, so the  
Mississippi Saints journeyed on to the  
Old Spanish Fort on the Arkansas River  
at Pueblo, Colorado, where they stayed  
during the winter of 1846-47. When the  
leader of the Mormon Battalion heard  
of the fifteen families staying at the  
fort, he ordered the women and children  
who accompanied the Battalion to be 
sent there.  Later, their husbands and  
the sick and ailing soldiers were also  
sent to winter there.  During that winter,  
300 people inhabitated the fort. Laura  
Altha was nine years old at that time,  
and she related many stories of the kind 
ness and the help that was extended to  
the Saints by the Spanish people who  
occupied the fort.  In the spring of 1847,  
the company continued their trek towards  
the Salt Lake Valley.  They arrived  
there on 29 July 1847, just five days  
after the company led by Brigham  
Young. The Gibsons were almost desti 
tute, but George W. was a carpenter by  
trade; and soon he built a log cabin for  
his family in Big Cottonwood, near  
Holladay. 

 
On 11 March 1857, Laura Altha mar 

ried James Andrus, and one month  
later she saw him set off on a mission  
to Europe.  She accompanied him to the  
mouth of Emigration Canyon, then lead  
his horse back to their home while he  
continued his journey through the moun  
tains on foot.  On the 30th of November  
of that year, Laura Altha alone wel 
comed the birth of their first child,  
Laura Jane, who came to be known al 
ways as "Tid. " 

 
In 1861 they were called, with other  

families, to colonize southern Utah.  
They settled in Grafton, Washington  
County.  There they endured the trials  
and privations typical of pioneer life in  
those "up the river settlements." 

 
They suffered the heat and the mos 

quitos, and the flash foods that in a  
matter of minutes would destroy dams  
and ditches and crops.  Three more  
children were born in Grafton, giving  
them a family of five--"Tid" and  
James, Jr., having been born in Salt  
Lake.  The new children were named  
Mary Lovina, Elizabeth Louella, and  
Elenora. Mary Lovina died at the  
age of 1-1/2 years. 

 
In 1866, Brigham Young called them  

to St. George where James was to be 
come one of the most noted leaders 



brother to their homes and give them  
dinner . And such good dinners they were  
too. 

 
The Indians were troublesome, though,  

as they were to people in all settlements.  
She could plainly remember seeing some  
of them sitting on the floor as her mother  
was stringing green beans for dinner. As  
a bean would fall they would grab it, chew  
it up, then spit it at her. But she didn't  
pay any attention, just went on with her  
work, for they had to try to avoid trouble  
with them at all costs. 

 
When spring came, the Gibson family  

continued their journey to Salt Lake City,  
and arrived in the valley July 29, 1847,  
four days after the first pioneer train. 

 
Manomas remembers as a child the  

coming of the crickets, and, like all pio 
neer children, she tried with her wooden  
mallet to kill the crickets.  And how the  
gulls came and destroyed the crickets. 

 
The family moved to Big Cottonwood,  

in the spring of 1848. 
 

Manomas was baptized into the Church  
of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints in  
Big Cottonwood Creek, in 1850, when  
she was eight years of age. 

 
Manomas never had the advantage of  

schooling, always having to remain  
home and take care of her invalid  
mother and attend to the house work. 

 
When she was 15 years old, her  

Father brought home another wife who  
was just a few months her junior.. The  
Gibson children resented her intrusion,  
and she (the new wife) in turn caused con 
siderable trouble between the children  
and their father. 

 
Because of this, Manomas left home  

and found employment in Salt Lake City,  
where she did the house work, helped  
with the cooking and the washing for three  
familie s. 

 
She also worked for Zina Young in the  

Bee Hive House. 
 
Manomas later came with her father  

to Dixie. They settled at Duncan's Re 
treat. 

 
She later moved to St. George and  

lived with her sister, Laura Altha Gib 
son who was married to James Andrus.  
After living with them for sometime,  
James asked Manomas to become his  
plural wife. 

 
After her experience with polygamy in  

her father's home, she was very bitter  
against it. Previous to this time she  
had said, "If any man asked her to be 
come a plural wife, she would spit in his  
face. 

 
But she and her sister Laura got along  

very well, and she always said, "James  
never showed any partiality. If he bought  
a spool of thread for one, he did for the  
other  too " 

They were married in the Endowment  
House in Salt Lake City. 

 
After her marriage, they came back  

to Dixie and lived at Grafton, where  
James was running his cattle and horses.  
Here they lived for one year.  But the  
Indians were giving the settlers trouble,  
so the people of these small settlements  
were asked to move closer together. So  
the two wives, Laura and Manomas,  
with others, moved to Rockville. 

 
At this time, 1866, James had been  

called to be a ,Captain in the Militia, 
in the Black Hawk War.  These men were  
called to protect the settlers from the  
maurauding Indians, and in doing so 
he was away from home much of the time.  
When the people were asked to move  
from Grafton to Rockville for protection,  
James had gone to Salt Lake for am 
munition. 

 
The day scheduled for moving, a  

light drizzle of rain fell throughout the  
day, and upon arriving in Rockville, 
the house they had planned on moving into  
was occupied, and the only other place  
available was a nice barn that belonged  
to the Bennetts. We cleaned it out and  
called that our home. 

 
At this time, Manoma's two small chil 

dren were born while she was undergoing  
these hardships, and her first five chil 
dren died while they were very small. 

 
In 1872, James was called to manage  

the Canaan Cooperative Stock Company  
at the Canaan Ranch. She spent eleven  
years of her life working hard from early  
morning until late at night.  During her  
first few years there, she lived in a  
wagon box and did her cooking outside. 

 
At this time, James received a call  

from Pres. Erastus Snow to start out  
with as many men as possible after some  
marauding Indians. 

 
At the time he was called, she was  

left alone at the ranch with a young boy  
sixteen'years old, and her only child that  
had survived, Moses Willard, who was  
eighteen months old. Just at sundown,  
eighty Navajo's came riding up to the  
ranch, bareback, all in their war paint,  
and camped down in a clump of trees  
close to her wagon box. Was she  
frightened? The only thing she could do  
was to kill them a beef, so she and this  
young boy proceeded to do so before it  
became too dark to see.  They gave the  
Indians the beef and a sack of flour, and  
during the night the Indians cooked the  
beef and made bread out of the flour.  She  
didn't sleep that night or undress herself  
or her child, shaking for fear that they  
would be killed.  Her prayers were prayed  
often. 

 
Next morning as she was straining the  

milk she looked up and found her child  
gone. She frantically searched for him  
and found him sitting in the middle of the 



camp where the Indians were.  She  
walked out, picked up the baby and  
brought him back to the wagon.  The In 
dians went away without harming them.  
Later on, the rock house was finished,  
and at that time she cooked for a large  
group of men, and skimmed thirty pans 
of milk a day.  With this she made but 
ter, and this was sent to St. George to  
the stockholders of the company. 

 
After this time, she lived at Pipe  

Springs for one year.  Then they  
moved to St. George, where she lived  
for the rest of her life, except for  
two years which she spent in Oxford,  
Idaho, 1887 - 1889, where her youngest  
child was born. 

 
She was an active Relief Society  

worker, and she served in the Primary  
Presidency.  For many years she was  
a member of the Old Folks Committee. 

 
James died in 1914, and about 1922  

she lost her eye sight.  After that, she  
spent much time at the temple doing  
temple work.  She did 2, 000 endow 
ments after she lost her sight. 

 
She was the mother of thirteen chil 

dren, six of which died in infancy. She  
had five living children at her death.  
She died May 31, 1940, at St. George,  
Utah, being 98 years old at that time. 

 



 





 

 





 

 






